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Jane C. BergneiWashington, D.C., for plaintiff.

Allison B.Ickovic Tax Division United States Department of Justice, Washington, D.C.,
with whom wasActing Assistant Attorney Generdbhn A. DiCiccofor defendant.

ALLEGRA, Judge

This tax refund case is before the court following trial in Washington, Bt@ssue is
whether plaintiffis liable for a secalled “responsible officer” penalty imposed by section
6672(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (26 U.S.C.). For the reasons that follow, the court
finds thatplaintiff, indeedwas liable for the petig in question and, therefores, not entitled to
therefundhe seeks

I FACTS
To say the leasMr. Timothy L. Jenkingplaintiff) has had a distinguished careeith a
long list of achievementhat includes appointments the interim presiderdf the University of

the District of Columbia, a governor of the United States P8stalice a consultant to the
United Nations High Commissioner of Human Riglatsdatrustee for Howard University
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Mr. Jenkins and/ir. Gary A.Puckrein were cofoundgiof Dialogue Diaspora, Inc.
(DDI), a corporation which publishekmerican Visionsnagaziné and promoted African-
American culture.Prior to 1991, Mr. Jenkins and Mr. Puckrein discussed various collaboration
opportunities. Those discussion began to intensify in 1991, MinelRuckrein made several
offers of employment to Mr. Jenkin©n or about August 10, 1992, plaintiff and Mr. Puckrein
entered into @reorganizational memorandum of understanding governing the creation of the
new company. That agreemerovidedthat the parties wouldach*hold 50% voting stock in
the new corporation with parallel compensation.” It further indicated thaPdtkrein would be
the President of the corporation (and hold certain roles regarding televisioarpnoigig),while
Mr. Jenkins would assume the title of Publishefoferican Visions And it stated that either
party would be individually able to sign all checks under $5,000, but that both would be required
to sign all checks over $5,060.

OnAugust 26, 1992, plaintiff, Mr. Puckrein and Ms. Joanne Harris (Mr. Puckrein’s wife)
filed articles of incorporation for DDI with the District of Columbia, which articlese
accepted by the District deptember 21, 1992The articles listed four directors foreth
company: plaintiff, Mr. Puckrein, Ms. Harris, and plaintiff’'s wilgurettalenkins.On
September 15, 1992, Mr. Puckrein received notificatian theAmerican Visionsrademark had
been approved. On or about September 22, 1992, DDI's new tasaked thatplaintiff be
appointed Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of DDI, withtithes of
“Publisher,” and that Mr. Puckrein and Ms. Hab&shired to serve as the President of the
Corporation and editor &merican Visionsrespectively It was also resolved that DDI would
become the designated publisheAdiferican Visiongn exchange foits assumingpecified
debts owed to Brown Printing CompaBrown Printing) which printed the magazind.he
boardminutesalso reflect that thénitial distribution of voting stock was5 percent to Mr.
Jenkins, 22.5 percent to Mr. Puckrein and 22.5 percent to Ms. Harris.

On September 22, 1992, plaintiff, Mrs. Jenkins, Warwick Communications, Brown
Printing and Mr. Puckrein (on behalf of DDdxecuted magreementhat stated that DDAould
become the producer, publisher and ownekrakrican Visions The agreement described Mr.
Jenkins as being “an executive officer and an equity participant” in DDI. Umglagteement,
Brown Printingagreed to continue to print the magazine at its usual and customary rates. The
agreement acknowledged that Déoiuld notpay BrownPrintingon a current basisinstead,

Brown Printing agreed tocontinue tgorint the magazinerovided that DDI would: (iinake a

1 As Mr. Jenkins testifieddmericanVisionswas—

one of the premier books of aesthetic and cultural interpretation in the Black
community, and it really was one of the places where writers, poets, edueadors
a chance to be heard without being stifled by editorial policies, and it became
beacon in the life of many educators for possible transmission of culture to
youngergeneration people.

% The record includes various checks suggesting that the counter-signing process
described in this provision was never implemented.
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series of scheduled paymenasd (iij)assume all outstanding obligations owed by Warwick (the
prior publisher oAmerican Visions Haintiff and Mr. Puckrein, agreed to guarantee jointly and
severally all paymestdue to BrowrPrintingby DDI, and plaintiff agreed to secure his
guarantee with a deed of trust in favor of Brawnmtingas to property he owned on S Street,
N.W., in the District of Columbia (the S Street Property)

DDI's corporateledger shows that as of October 3, 1992, plaintiff, Mr. Puckrein, and Ms.
Harris owned 550, 225, and 225 shareBbf’s stock, respectivel§. On December 2, 1992,
DDI (by Mr. Puckrein as its President) entered into a lease with Mr. asdJeimkins of the S
Street Propert§. On or about January 26, 1993, plaintiff, Mrs. Jenkins, Mr. Puckrein and Ms.
Harris entered into an agreement entitled “Loan Commitment forGpeaind Operation Costs
of [DDI].” In that documentMr. and Mrs. Jenkins agreed to: (i) encumiherS Street Property
for an amount up to, but not to exceed, $130,000 as sefari§rown Printing® and
(i) lend an amount up to, but not to exceed, $70,000 to DDI for both the direct costs of the
publication ofAmerican Visionsluring DDI’s start-up year and certain other budgetedabipg
costs. The agreement established various procedures for drawing on said fundsritgrasel
repayment. On January 28, 1993, Mr. Puckrein and Ms. Harris both countersigned th
agreement, with each being described therein as a shareholdel andBir. Puckrein being
also described as an endorser.

To furthersecure this loan agreement, danuary 27, 199®DI’'s Board of Directors
(plaintiff, Mrs. Jenkins, Mr. Puckrein and Ms. Harexecuted a “Stand Byoting Trust and
Uniform Commercial Code Security Agreeménthe first part of this agreement established a
voting trust. Mr. Puckrein and Ms. Harris each pledgeithat trusapproximately five percent
of the 225DDI sharesach ownedyielding a toal of 2.5shares Plaintiff had the option, by
exercising this voting trust, of contliolg fifty -five percent of the shares of the corporation.
Plainstiff and Ms. Jenkins, jointly and separately, accepted the pleddasséses of thgoting
trust.

® Accordingto this ledger, it thus appears that, as of this time, Mr. Jenkins owned a
majority share of the new corporation. At trial, however, Mr. Jenkins testifigdozause of
Mr. Puckrein’s pending divorce, he agreed to hold temporarily fifty shares @fistbally
issued to Mr. Puckrein, with the understanding that Mr. Puckrein could reacquire theseashar
a nominal cost of $10. Describing the motivation for this transaction, Mr. Jenkinie tettét
he “was prepared to give [Mr. Puckrein] anyththgt he needed for external issues.”

* This lease was for a fivgear term, commencing February 1, 1993. The rent, which
was to be paid monthly by DDI, was $6,000 per month net, with an annual inflation escalation
clause. DDI agreed to sublet tloifth floor of the S Street Property to TLJ International,
another company owned by Mr. Jenkins, with an annual reduction in the aforementioned rent of
$1,500 per month. The lease provided Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins with various remedies if DDI
defaulted on itpayment obligation.

> Indeed, it appears that Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins secured the printing agreement with
Brown Printing by issuing a deed of trust of this property in the printer’s favor.

® In his testimony, Mr. Jenkins described the purpose of the voting trust, thusly —
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The second part of this agreement was a loan agreement secured by a factortidien. T
partidentified plaintiff, along with his wife, as thé&actor,” and DDI and Mr. Puckrein as the
“Borrower.” The agreement provided that Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins weualditheBorrower an
amount to exceed the lesser of either $200,000 or the seight§percent of the net current
accounts receivable of tlBorrower. This loan was secured in favor of tlaetér by a
“continuing lien upon all merchandise of the borrower and upon all accounts receivattieror
proceeds resulting from the sale or other disposition of such merchandise Borfower
further assigned to the Factor “all of its merchandise and all of its acceuaigable or other
proceeds.” Thisgreement further recitedat: (i) DDI would provide monthly detailed financial
reports to Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins; (ii) Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins hadHalfrights and remedies of
[DDI] in respect to the merchandise and the accounts recejvaiikiding theright to receive
payments from any person owing an account receivable to(Dipwithout notice to DDI, all
accounts receivable and proceeds were assigned to Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins; andB@uotiver
was restricted frorperforming a number of activities, including borrowing money (except from
the Factor), employing additional employees or increasing their salarykorghaay
expenditures except in the ordinary course of business.

On May 20, 1994Mr. Puckrein, in his stated capacity as President and Chief Operating
Officer of DDI, and plaintiff, actings a “Personal Surety,” signed an “Interest Bearing Bond” in
favor of Hilbert R. Sandholm, througr. Sandholm’s guardian, Sandra L. Reiscbeldencing
a $100,000 obligatiomwed by DDI toMr. Sandholm. On October 3, 199aintiff executed a
promissory note under which both DDI and plaintiff promised toNdayReischel $90,000, plus
interest within six months. The notgas signed twice bplaintiff, once inhis capacity as
Publisher/CEO of DDI andgain as a personal guarantdihe proceeds of this bond were not
used to pay off past debts, but rather for growth opportunities.

Mr. Jenkins provided DDI with funds on other occasions. Between August 17, 1992, and
November 9, 199dewrote a seriesf checks on his personal acco(mt that of TLJ
International) payable to DDI (#0 American Visions the memo ling on which reflect various
purposes relating to the operation of DDAIl these advancesotaling$253,670.90were made

| think it actually was initially suggested by my wife as an additional degree of
assurance that if the worst should come to worse, and if something perhaps would
happen to Gary Puckrein, that | would be able to not be faced watie est

managers and not be able to control the course of the corporation in order to get
the reimbursement for our advances in the form of loans.

In this same vein, Mr. Jenkins testified that the document “was calculated gatimstances
[whlere they wee in default, that we would be able to demand the additional shares necessary to
have a majority of the corporate board and control the affairs of the corporation.”

" These checks are summarized in the following chart:



by plaintiff in response to requests made by Mr. PuckrBuring thisperiod, Mr. Puckrein was
primarily responsible for the dag-day management of the business. In addition, DDI had a
financial manager, Samuel Collins, who was responsible for processing &l emec
performing all payroll tasks, including calculating the tax withholding withaeisio payroll.

For his part, Mr. Jenkins exercised limited authority over DDI's hiring oagepersonnel and
over a fund used for the business development activities of the corpdration.

An entry in DDI's corporate ledger reflects that as of February 1, 1995{/aiss and
Mr. Puckrein each transferred 12.5 shares of their DDI stock to “TL & LC dgnkoting
Trustees.” A March 24, 1998Bntry in the same ledger reflects that plaintiff transfefifgd
shares of DDI stock to Mr. Puckrein.

Some time earlyn 1995, Mr. Jenkins and Mr. Puckrein hachajor falling out. On
March 23, 1995, Mr. Jenkins sent Mr. Puckrein a letter notifying him of a March 31, 1995,
meeting of thalirectorsof DDI.° On March 25, 1995, Mr. Puckrein respondeduriting, that
he and Ms. Harris did not believe that Mr. Jenkins had the authogsll a meeting of DDI's
board of directors and that he and Ms. Harris would not attend that me€hiisdetter accused
plaintiff of taking improper actionand indicated that “[u]nder the circumstances, our association
must come to an end.” Toward the latter eMd, Puckreinpurported to instrugblaintiff to

Check
Number Date Payee Amount For/M emo
237 8/17/92| American Visions $3,900.00] Genovese & Assoc., Ck
5715 8/28/92| American Visions $ 766.90| Support Funds
261| 10/19/92| DDI $6,000.00 Advance for Oct/Nov Factored
Receivables
341 2/3/93| DDI $2,300.00| Loan to Advance Salaries
360 3/1/93| DDI $10,000.00] Brown Printing/Paper from LOC
379 3/25/93| DDI $40,384.00| Short Term Loan/Advance #3
382 4/7/93 | DDI $1,500.00| Postage Advance
485 9/27/93| DDI $25,000.00| Six Month Loan at 10%
548 3/28/94| DDI $2,500.00] Compuserv Staityp Loan
5749 10/7/93| DDI $40,000.00| 60 Day Cir Dev.
5757 | 10/20/93| DDI $49,000.00| Circulation Adv
564 5/9/94 | DDI $1,667.00| Adv. Payment to Lauren Gill
(McClain)
567 5/13/94| DDI $61,453.00| Advance for Brown Printing
674 11/9/94| DDI $9,200.00| Payroll Adv. AgainsCowles Payment

8 While plaintiff denied this at trial, his testimony was contradicted by his prior
deposition testimony in this case, as well as by the deposition testimony he a4 996
lawsuit that he and his wife filed against DDI in D.C. Superior Court.

® The letter in question refers to a meeting of “shareholders,” but the contexiettehe
as well as subsequent communications referring to the meeting, suggest thetting was one
of DDI’s directors.



ceasaisng any DDI assets for purposes that had not been approved by hime timdatened to
file suit against plaintiff.

No later tharApril of 1995, plaintiff learned from Mr. Puckrethat DDI had been
experiening employmentax problems with the IRS and had entered intmatallment
agreement with the Internal Revenue Service (eSthe payment of those tax&s.0n June 2,
1995, plaintiff and Mrs. Jenkins, as members of DDI'ardoof directors, wrote a representative
of the Industrial Bank of Washington (Industrial Bank), directing the bank not to honor any
overdrafts or any checks signed by persons who were not named on the DDI boarndmesolut
file with the bank. This lettr further requested copies of DDI's May 1995, bank statement and
all checks and wire transfers relating to DDI's account for that month.

Sometime before June 9, 1995, Mr. Jenkins learned that DDI was still not compliant in
making its tax paymentsAt or around this same time, plaintiff learned that Mr. Puckrein had
been secretly operating another company, American Visions Enterprises, sohusef
activities paralleled those of DDDn June 9, 1995, Mr. Jenkins (as secresay a directoof
DDI) and Mrs. Jenkingas director of DDI) wrote Ms. Hartisalling a special meeting of DDI's
Board of Directors for June 12, 1995. A copy of this lettas faxed to the IRS with the
following handwritten message: “AttMrs. Venita Gardner, Group Manager Collection,
Internal Revenue Service, 500 North Capitol Street. Please note our desire to hawsoane of
agents in attendance at this meeting. Timothy Jenkihs'he next day, June 10, 1995, Mr.

19 n this regard, Mr. Jenkirtsstified as follows:

Well, I had information | believe as early as April that there had been an IRS
issue. And when | raised that with Gary, he explained that while there had been a
lapse in the timely payment of withholding trust funds, that it had been remedied,
and they had negotiated an installment agreement that he was then operating
under with the approval of IRS. And hence there was no issue after that.

Nevertheless, under cross-examination, plaintiff admitted that he did nothiagfioMr.
Puckrein’s claims that the taxes were being paid.

1 Mr. Jenkins testified, at great length, that he did not know the full extent of DDI's
employment tax problems until June 9, 1995. He claimed that, on that day, he discovered papers
at DDI's dfices indicating that “DDI had defaulted on its installment agreements with the IRS
with regard to its trust fund payment” and revealing that Mr. Puckrein had been dettiing
Revenue Officer Robert Bendery on this matter. While plaintiff claims thiaaéeo prior
contact with Mr. Bendery, other evidence in the record contradicts this claimxdfople, in
explaining why the handwritten message on the June 9 letter inviting the IR&bthe board
meeting was addressed to Mrs. Gardner, plaintiff testified that he had tmétinvBendery “on
previous occasions, when Mr. Bendery had come to our offices,” and did not want him to come
to the June 12 meeting unaccompanied. Mr. Jenkins’ claim that he did not meet with Mr.
Bendery prior to June 9, 1995, is also contradicted by the deposition that Mr. Jenkins gave in his
D.C. Superior Court action against Mr. Puckrein, in which Mr. Jenkins admitted that he had met
Mr. Bendery on several prior occasions.



Jenkins had the locks on the S Street Property replaitent. about this timehe posed a sign
on the door at the entrance to the buildinbich stated:

These premises at 2101 S Street, N.W., have been sealed.

The locks have been changed by the owners for nonpayment of rent and to
preserve criminal and civil evidence for the Internal Revenue Service.

Any trespass, removal of documents or equipment will be treated as civil and
criminal offenses by the owners and the U.S. Treasury Departmenany-or
further information call (202) 234-

On June 12, 1995, Mr. Puckrein wrote Mr. Jenkins proteitiedatteis action in changing the
locks on the S Street Property and indicating that neither he nor Ms. Harris thtemdeognize
any of the actins that might be taken at theard ofdirectors meeting scheduled for latdrat
day.

The DDI board of directors, indeed, met on June 12, 1995. The minutes of that meeting,
which weresigned by plaintiffas Secretary of DDI, reflettat the followng individuals were
present: Mr. Jenkins (identified as a DOxedtor); Mrs. Jenkins (identified as a DDI director);
Ms. Harris (identified as a DDI director); Mr. Puckrein; various legal selfor the parties; and
Robert A. Bendery, from the “Collections Dept.the Internal Revenue Service.” The minutes
indicate that Mr. Puckrein and Ms. Harris explained that they were present onlgd¢btolihe
meeting and declare the proceedings to be null and void. Despite this, the minugte thdic
the following resolutionsvere adopted by a twihirds majority of the voting members of the
DDI board: (i) that all acts affecting DDI, DDI’s staff and DDI’s prdydaken by persons
purporting to act on behalf of American Visions Enterprises were nul@idd(ii) thatMarilyn
Crawfordwas appointe@resident of DDI; (iii) thaMr. Puckreinwas removeas Editorin-

Chief and spokesperson American Visions(iv) that Ms. Crawford, as DDI's President, and
Mr. Jenkins, as the Publisher and Secretary/Treasurer of the DDI Boardeseegviauthorized
signatories on DDI’'s various bank accounts; and (is @&ibDI Executive Committegas
appointed, comprised of Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins.

On June 15, 1995, Mr. Jenkins signed an IRS Form 4180, Repotréiview with
Individual Relative to Trust Fund Recovery Penaltyersonal Liability for Excise TaxThis
form was also signed by Revenue Officer Bendery. The form reflaotedalia, that plaintiff
owned fifty percent of DDI and that beginning in 1992 and 1993, plaintiff had opened corporate
bank accounts, signed corporate checks and guaranteed or co-signed corporagnbarikile
form also indicated that plaintiff had determined “[clompany financial polid¢y.a later
segment, the form indicated that plaintiff had become aware of the delinqueshbtesed upon
the issuance of DDI's yeand financial statements for 1993 and 1$94\Iso on June 15, 1995,

2 In response to the questiofiiw]hat action did you take to see that the tax liabilities
were paid?,” plaintiff responded‘fr]aised the issue with the President. Received oral
assurances from the President that a payment plan acceptable to IRS had bedadegdt
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plaintiff signed an IRS Form 433; Collecton Information Statemeriibr Businessthat had
previously been prepared by Revenue Officer Bendery. This form listed variouseirnd
assets owned by DDf

On July 5, 1995, plaintiff wrote a check on DDI's bank account at Industrial Bank for
$16,668.47 made payable to him and Mrs. JenKirRlaintiff later cashed the check and
deposited the proceeds into one of his personal bank accouhtsrial, Mr. Jenkins testified
that he wrote this check to himself upon demanding, based upon the factoring agreement, that
Industrial Bank provide him with the moneys in the various DDI accounts. He admitted tha
the time he wrote this check, he knalout the unpaid IRS liability.

On July 29, 1995, Mr. Jenkins, Mr. Puckrein and DDI (by Mr. Puckrein) entered into a
Stock Purchase Agreement pursuant to which Mr. Puckrein agreed to purchasé oE0exif
shares of DDI stock (identified therein as representing 50 percent of the issuedstenttong
DDI stock) for $50. In addition, Mr. Puckrein agreed to discharge DDI's debt to Mr. Jenkins by
means of a $200,000 payment dyelanuary 30, 1996. The agreement further stated that if Mr.
Puckrein failed to pay this debt when die transferredhares referenced would revert to Mr.
Jenkins at the price originally paid.

future accounts wouldebkept current.” This same form indicated that Mr. Puckrein was
responsible for a number of other corporate functions, including hiring, managiriigiag
employees; directing the payment of bills; authorizing bank deposits and pEngolls; and
reviewing and signing the company’s tax returns.

13 1t appears that during this same general time period, Mr. Jenkins had a number of
contacts with Revenue Officer Bendery in which Mr. Jenkins urged the revenwe tiffseize
various DDI resources in payment of the outstanding taxes. At trial, Mr. Jenkifisdekat he
also provided Revenue Officer Bendery with evidence that Mr. Puckrein was sipharagg
funds from DDI in various ways.

4 This check was the last of at least twes@yen checks drawn on DDI's account at
Industrial Bank that was signed by plaintiff. Plaintiff claims that as to the otleetyrsix
checks, which were dated between June 26, 1993, and May 10, 1995, he made no decision
regarding who was being paid or whether the funds were owed, but merely sigriexd chec
prepared by DDI employees in the absence of Mr. Puckrein.

!5 In explaining why he did not use these funds to pay the past due employment taxes,
Mr. Jenkins testified —

My effort was to seize, as a creditor, the funds trexevthe proceeds of Dialogue
Diaspora, and | had a senior obligation for those funds, senior to the IRS claim,
and | exercised it free and clear of any IRS obligation pursuant to mig ettt
under the creditor’s lien, and also the powers to seize proceeds in third parties,
hands with or without legal process.
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As the foregoing would suggest, for the quarterly tax periods ending March 31, 1993,
through September 30, 1995, DDI filed Eeal employment tax returns but failed to pay in full
to the IRS the liabilities associated therewit¥r. Puckrein signed the returns filed during this
period. The liability for the unpaid employment taxes for the first of thesedsefthat of March
31, 1993) was assessed by the IRS on June 14, 1993. On August 7, 1995, Mr. Puckrein signed
an IRS Form 43D, entitled a “Tentative Installment Agreement,” for payment of DDI's
employment tax liabilities. During this period, DDI became increasingly past-due on its rent
payments to plaintife as of June 1, 1995, it owed Mr. and Mrs. Jenkins $84,156, and by October
31, 1995, that figure haglvelled to $117,3810n December 1, 189 Revenue Officer Bendery
wrote Mr. Jenkins, indicating that the IRS had been unable to collect trust fund taxielsyowe
DDI and was prepared to assess a Trust Fund Recovery Penalty against himuadn2a
1996, plaintiff responded to this letter, protesting the assessment of a penaky liga On
June 9, 1997, the IRRdied plaintiff's protest.On January 28, 199&e IRS assessed against
Mr. Jenkins a penalty of $189,972, pursuant to section 6672(a) of the Code, for failure to pay
over withheld employment taxes.

After various proceduratepswere takenin 2005 and early 2006, the IRS collected an
amount corresponding to the penalty asserted against plgohtigfaccrued interedby levying
on plaintiff's individual retirement account and Social Security benefits. Taleatmiount
recovered in this fashion was $264,097.56. On February 5 and 6, 2007, plaintiff filed a claim for
refund seeking the return of these funds. On May 10, 2007, the IRS send plaintiff a notice of
claim disallowance. Subsequently, plaintiff timely filed this refund suit on dup24a2008.

Subsequently, in the course of discovery, it was determined that plaintiff's IRS
administrative file had been losDn April 14, 2010, plaintiff filed a Motion for an Order
Shifting the Burden of Production and Proof to Defendant, in whiclidged that the loss of
the administrative file, and the concomitant loss of material establishing the historicaill fac
basis for the IRSassessment of the penalty agamst, altered in his favor, various rules
concerning the presumption of correctness and burden of proof ordinarily associatedaxi
refund suit® Following briefing and oral argument on this matter, this court, on July 9, 2010,

1% In a plain vanilla refund suit, the assessment made bR®i&s presumed to be
correct, placingn obligation on the taxpayer to come forward with evidence to rebut a
presumption of correctss. United States v. Janig28 U.S. 433, 440-41 (1976)elch v.
Helvering 290 U.S. 111, 115 (1933). Viewed in these terms, the presumption of correctness “is
a procedural device which requires the taxpayer to come forward with enough evalence
support a finding contrary to the Commissioner's determinatiBockwell v. Commof
Internal Revenueb12 F.2d 882, 885 (9th Cir. 1978§rt. denied423 U.S. 1015 (1975)n
addition, a taxpayer in a refund suit also has the burden of pthei#timate burden of
persuasion.See Helvering v. Taylp293 U.S. 507, 515 (1935). Where the presumption of
correctness attaches to an assessment, the taxpayer generally also has tlom laurglen
counterclaim raised by the government relating to the assessemnAdams v. United Stgtes
358 F.2d 986, 994 (Ct. Cl. 1966). For a lengthier discussion of these prinsga€sokv.
United States46 Fed. CI. 110, 113-19 (2000).
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granted plaintiff's motion, in partSee Jenkins v. United Stat8610 WL 2935791Ked CI.

July 9, 2010). Based ddook v. United Stated6 Fed. Cl. 110 (2000), it hefdat whilethe loss

of the administrative filelid not shift the burden of proof in this matter, it did require defendant
to show that @rima faciecase for the assessment of the pgreatisted i.e., that the assessment
was not nakedJenking 2010 WL 2935791. fTal in this matter was held in Washington, O.C.
from September 27, 2010, through September 30, 20b@sistent with its prioprocedural

ruling, the court required defendant to present its evidence first. Based ondbisceyithe

court found that defendant had produced sufficient evidence for the presumption of carectnes
to attach to the IRS’ penalty assessmdntal on the meritshtus proceeded with the standard
presumptions and burdens regarding the conduct of a tax refund suit inAtesehe filing of
post-trial briefs, closing argument in this case was held on March 17, 2011.

. DISCUSSION

We begin with common ground. Every employer is required to deduct and withhold
federal income tax and Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) tax frgplogees wages
as and when they are pai8ee26 U.S.C. 88 3102 (FICA) and 3402(a) (income tax). Under
section 7501 of the Code, such amounts are held in trust for the United States and thus are
commonly referred to as trust fund tax&ee Slodov v. United Statd86 U.S. 238, 243 (1978).
In imposing the obligation to collect these taxes on otlear the actual taxpayer, Congress
recognized that collectors might fail to set aside and pay over the taxes to tlieSdaits.See
United States v. Soteld36 U.S. 268, 277 n.10 (1978)Vhere, as here, the collector fails to
remit the withheld taxeshe United States must, nevertheless, credit each taxpayer as if the
funds were actually paid oveGege.g, 26 C.F.R. § 1.31Ka) (2A.0); see also Slodow36 U.S.
at 243;United States v. Huckabee Auto Ct83 F.2d 1546, 1548 (11th Cir. 198@)s a
consequence, the United States obligates itself to pay benefits suciabsesurity and income
tax refunds, for which there is no corresponding reve@ee= Emshwiller v. United Stat&65
F.2d 1042, 1044 (8th Cir.1977) (“any failure by the esgpl to pay withheld taxes results in a
loss to the government in that amoun8alzillo v. United State$6 Fed. Cl. 23, 31 (2005).

To protect against such losses, the persons responsible for ensuring that the trust fund
taxes are paid, who willfully fail to do so, may be held personally liable undesrsé6t72 of
the Code.See26 U.S.C. § 6672, also United States v. Bishb2d5 F.3d 1001, 1005 (8th Cir.
2001). Section 6672(a) states in pertinent part:

Any person required to collect, truthfully account for, and pay over any tax
imposed by this title who willfully fails to collect such tax, or truthfully account

for and pay over such tax, or willfully attempts in any manner to evade or defeat
any such tax or the payment thereof, shall, in addition to other penalties provided
by law, be liable to a penalty equal to the total amount of the tax evaded, or not
collected, or not accounted for and paid over.

26 U.S.C. 8§ 6672(a). By its terms, then, liability under section 6672 results from theenoaflu

of three factors: “(1) There must be a ‘person’ who (2) is required to collgtfully account
for and pay over taxes, but who (3) ‘willfully’ fails to do s&Emshwiller 565 F.2d at 1045ee
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also Vinick v. United State205 F.3d 1, 3-4 (1sti€C 2000);United States v. Landa®55 F.3d
93, 101 (2d Cir. 1998yert. denied526 U.S. 1130 (1999F 00k v. United States2 Fed. CI. 62,
68 (2002)’

“The first two of these requirements are typically collapsed into theestagicept of a
‘responsible persor,this court has statedyhile the willfulness criteria commands separate
attention” Salzillo,66 Fed. Clat32. Both the responsible person analysis and the assessment
of willfulness are facbased determinations unique to thewmstances of each casgee Feist
v. United States607 F.2d 954, 957 (Ct. Cl. 197®auer v. United State$43 F.2d 142, 148
(Ct. Cl. 1976). An individual against whom the IRS has made a section 6672(a) assessment
ordinarily has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that@tdeaisthe
composite elements of liability under that section is absee¢ Landaul55 F.3d at 101Cook
52 Fed. Cl. at 68. And that burden squarely falls on plaintiff here.

A. Was Plaintiff a Responsible Person?

Section 6672 of the Code adopts the term “person(s)” as used by section 6671(b), which,
in turn, defines person as: “includes an officer or employee of a corporation . . . sdhas
officer, employee, or member, is under a duty to perform the act in respduchfthe violation
occurs.” Through section 6672 and the definition contained in section 66 TH€d)nited States
seeks “to protect the government fisc by facilitating the collection of tasstfrose who have
both the responsibility and authority to avoid the defaultidok 52 Fed. Cl. at 6&ee also
White v. United State872 F.2d 513, 516 (Ct. Cl. 196Balzillo, 66 Fed. Cl. at 32ltis a
further bedrock principle that the determination whether a persespsnsible “is a matter of
substance not form and is determined by the coincidence of status, duty and authwathy” —
the duty to ensure that taxes are paid flowing from authority that enables onetoCGimk 52
Fed.Cl. at 68;see alsdpliger v. United State$37 F.3d 889, 893 {8Cir. 2011);Michaud v.
United States40 Fed. ClI. 1, 16 (1997&handour v. United State86 Fed. Cl. 53, 60 (1996),
aff'd, 132 F.3d 52 (1997) (table).

17 Section 6672 originated as section 1308 of the Revenue Act of 1918, 40 Stat. 1143,
which established a threéeered scale of penalties for failing to comply with federal excise taxes.
See Slodgwi36 U.S. at 248-50. The most severe of these prongs imposed a criminal sanction,
equal to 100 percent of the evaded or unpaid tax, on any person who “willfully refuses to pay,
collect, or truly account for and pay over” certain specified exaises. This criminal provision
later evolved first to cover Social Security tax@eSocial Security Act of Aug. 14, 1935, Pub.

L. No. 74-271, ch. 531, § 807(c), 49 Stat. 620, 638, and, ultimately, to reach the failure to pay
over the withholding portion of income taxeseCurrent Tax Payment Act of 1943, Pub.L. No.
68, ch. 120, § 1627, 57 Stat. 126, 138. In enacting the 1954 Code, Congress severed this
provision from the other criminal penalties, because it did not provide for imprisonment, a
instead grouped it with other assessable noncriminal penalties, renumberisgciti@as 6672 of

the Code. Although both the House and Senate reports commented on this shift, neither
otherwise described the purpose of what effectively became a civil peSak$. Rep. No.,
1622,at5245 (1954); H.R. Rep. No. 137at4568 (1954).
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While determining responsibility perforce requires consideration of théyatbthe
circumstances, the Federal Circuit has outlined a number of relevant considerations

[A] person’s “duty” under § 6672 must be viewed in light of his power to compel
or prohibit the allocation of corporate fundsis a tesof substance, not form.
Thus, where a person has authority to sign the checks of the corporation or to
prevent their issuance by denying a necessary signature or where the person
controls the disbursement of the payroll or controls the voting stock of the
corporation he will generally be held “responsible.”

Godfrey v. United State%48 F.2d 1568, 1576 (Fedir. 1984) (internal citations omittecjee

also De Alto v. United State40 Fed. Cl. 868, 876 (1998). The inquiry thus looks through the
mechanical functions of the various corporate officers, to determine the persons
having ‘the power to control the decisiaraking process by which the employer
corporation allocates funds to other creditors in preference to its withholding tax
obligations. The inquiry required by the statute is a search for a person with
ultimate authority over expenditure of funds since such a person can fairly be said
to be responsible for the corporation's failure to pay over its taxes.

Godfrey 748 F.2d at 1575 (internal citations omitteldigg Altg 40 Fed. Cl. at 875ee also

Barrett, 580 F.2d 449, 452 (Ct. Cl. 1978plding v. United State$65 F.2d 663, 670-71 (Ct.

Cl. 1977);Bauer, 543 F.2d at 148)Vhite 372 F.2d at 517 (“the courts are looking for the person
who could have seen to it that the taxes were paid”).

Notwithstanding the “ultimate authority” language employe@Godfrey the Federal
Circuit and other courts have made clear that there can be more than one respassibia pe
“liability attaches to all those under the duty set forth in the statttartington v. United
States504 F.2d 1306, 1311 (1st Cir. 1974 alspe.g, Lubetzky v. United State393 F.3d
76, 80 (1st Cir. 2004)Gephart 818 F.2d at 473Godfrey 748 F.2d at 1574—-7Fhibodeau v.
United States828 F.2d 1499, 1503 (11th Cir. 198White 372 F.2d at 5165cott v. United

18 As noted irSalzillo, 66 Fed. Cl. at 32, sont@urts employ as many as seven factors,
including whether the individua(i) is an officer or member of the board of directors, (ii) owns
shares or possesses an entrepreneurial stake in the company, (iii) is abeveamagement of
day+to-day affairs of the company, (iv) has the ability to hire and fire emplpp@esales
decisions regarding which, when and in what order outstanding debts or taxes will bei)paid, (
exercises control over daily bank accounts and disbursement records, and (vii) kesgrhieg
authority. See e.g, Oppliger, 637 F.3d at 89Frwin v. United State$91 F.3d 313, 321 {4
Cir. 2010);Smith v. United State§55 F.3d 1158, 1163 (TO:ir. 2009);Vinick, 205 F.3d at 7;
United States v. Reri8 F.3d 634, 642 (2d Cir. 1994)nited States v. Carrigar31l F.3d 130,
133 (3d Cir. 1994)Barnettv. Internal Rev. Serv988 F.2d 1449, 1455 (5th Cir. 1998¢t.
denied 510 U.S. 990 (1993%ephart v. United State818 F.2d 469, 473 (6th Cir. 1987).
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States 354 F.2d 292, 296 (Ct. Cl. 1965]T]he statute expressly applies to ‘any’ responsible
persons,” one court has explained, “not just to the paer&shresponsible for the payment of the
taxes,"addingthat “[tlhere may be- indeed, there usually are — multiple responsible persons in
any company.”Barnettv. |.R.S.988 F.2d 1449, 145%™ Cir. 1993) cert. deniegd510 U.S. 990
(1993)(emphasis in originalgee also Gepharg18 F.2d at 476 (“[w]hile it may be that [other
corporate officials] werenore responsible than plaintiff, and exerciggdater authority, this

does not affect a finding of liability against the plaintiff” (emphasis in nak)); Godfrey 748

F.2d at 1575Bolding 565 F.2d at 67White 372 F.2d at 5165handour 36 Fed. Cl. at 61.
Accordingly, that MrPuckreinhas admitted to being responsible BI’s failure to pay over
taxes does not, in and of itself, preclude a finding that Mr. Jenkins is likewmsdsle.

Plaintiff contends that he was not a “responsible peradthin the meaning of section
6672 for the periods in question. The record before the court, however, belies this assertion.

It reveals that Mr.&nkins held various positions sijnificant authority withirthe
corporation, including Chief Exative Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the corporation
He was, as welthe publisher oAmerican Visionsthe primary publication of the corporation.
He sat on the company’s board and, during the period in question, owned (together witB)his wif
at least fifty percent of the company’s stodk.addition, Mr. Jenkins had the ability to sign
checks on DDI’s primary bank account and the ability to withdraw funds from those accounts.
By virtue of his stake in the corporation and his role as a director, Mr. Jenkins also had the
ability to precipitate reorganizations of the corporation’s leaderdhfipat is moe, Mr. Jenkins
possessed an additional entrepreneurial stak®invia his role in financingite company he
provided the initial operating funds for the company by diremtlgndng credit to DD| and
negotiated financing transactions with, and encumbered his property to obtaifroredthird
parties Because of his diverse roles and owing to the explicit terms of the factgregnaent,
plaintiff enjoyed the right to review the corporation’s financial recordsyéing records
reflecting the company’s payroll tax deposits. Last, but not lepktintiff was the company’s
landlord, leasing it the building thatasits principal place of business.

Owing to his multifaceted rolewithin the corporation and his role as a financier of first
resort plaintiff plainly had thdeverage anduthority to “avoid the default” and demand that the
corporation not squander the taxes it withheld from its employ&es.Feist607 F.2d 960
(“Any corporate officer, or employeeith the power and authority to ‘avoid the default’ or to
direct the payment of the taxes is a responsible person within the meaningoof 68¢2.");

White 372 F.2cat516, see also Thomas v. United Stats F.3d 1109, 1120 {(7Cir. 1994);
Jenson v. United State23 F.3d 1393, 1398™ Cir. 1994).

In arguingotherwise plaintiff makes severalaims First, he contends that the court
should disregard his various titles, claiming that they did not give himctibalauthority to
ensure the satisfaction of the taigations of DDI. If, indeed, his titles were mechanical,
plaintiff might be right. See Barnett988 F.2dat 145556; White 372 F.2d at 516. But, this
claim is contradicted bthe various occasions on whiplaintiff injected himself into the
decisimn-making process of the corporatiofd.prime example iplaintiff's activities during the
period of June 9-12, 1995. On the first of these days, when plaintiff allegedly discovered the
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depths of the DDI's withholding tax problems with the IRS, Mr. Jenkins locked DDI out of the S
Street property, invoking thEreasury Department’s name in doing so, and called a meeting of
the board of directors to which he invited representatives of the IRS. And, at thtdrdire
meeting, Mr. Jenkins won approval of major changes to the corporation’s strutiteréring of

Mr. Puckrein, the hiring of a new corporate President, the creation of an Ex&catmaittee of

the Board to which he and his wife were appointed, and his designation as having signature
authority on all of the corporation’s bank accountbese actions welllustrate thatMr. Jenkins

was no figureheadut rather, as hiwide experience in managing large organizatieosid
suggestpne whocould make his will feltvithin the corporation when he so desired.

Notwithstanding thisplaintiff stresseshat he exercised raay+to-daydecisioamaking
authority regarding DDI’s federal tax matter$ie did not deal with payroll matters and thus had
nothing to do with tax withholdings andderal payroll tax deposjteedid notsignany of the
corporation’s tax returns; arn did not deaile whethewrel nonto pay theaxes owed And, all
this appears true but irrelevant. Foit is well-accepted that one need not actually perform these
tax functions in order to be a responsible person under section 86é2Vueller v. Nixq70
F.2d 1348, 13496" Cir. 1972) cert. denied412 U.S. 949 (1933 The question, rather, is
whether Mr. Jenkins possessed the effective power to pay the taréteastio force that
action on the part of others. And he surely did. Indeed, any question in this regard re@nswe
by plaintiff's dealings with Industrial Bankvhich indicate that he had sufficient authority to
direct the payment of funds to third parties and to withdraw funds from DDI's acceums a
deemed necessaly. Plaintiff could have wielded this authority — and more ertsure that the
IRS received the tax funds that had been withheld from DDI's employees. Tladeddad do
sodoes not make him any less responsible.

What the Court of Claims held forty years ago is apt here. In a case somhigs, it
observed that “[a]s a general proposition it may be safely postulated thahone tive founder,
chief stockholder, president, and member of the board of directors of a corporation . . . is
rebuttably presumed to be the person responsible under section [6672] of the Code . . . in the
absence of an affirmative showing by him that in actual fact he lacked the ultuttadets to
withhold and pay the employment taxes in questidvicCarty v. United Stateg37 F.2d 961,
967-68 (Ct. Cl. 1971)%ee also Feis607 F.2d at 960. Here, plaintiff was the founder, major
stockholder, chief executive officer, publisher and member of the board of direciid. He
was also the corporationggimaryfinancierand its landlord. Andlgintiff has provided no
affirmative showing that in actual fact he lackedutisnateauthority to avoid the corporation’s
default on its withholdig tax obligations.He wasthen irrebutably— responsible.

B. Was Plaintiff Willful?
Even a responsible person is not liable for a penalty under section 6672(a) unless his or

her failure to collect, accoufdr, or remit withholding taxes was willfulGodfrey 748 F.2d at
1574. “Whether ‘the failure to pay the overdue taxes [is] willful has been seas calling for

9 Those dealings also belie plaintiff's claim that he was unable to direct payméms to
IRS because he did not have access to the DDI's checkbooks.
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proof of a voluntary, intentional, and conscious decision not to collect and remit taxes thought to
be owing.” Godfrey 748 F.2d at 1576-77 (alterations in original) (quottagtt v. United

States 354 F.2d 292, 295 (Ct. Cl. 1965)). The Supreme Court has indicated that willfulness
requires some showing of “personal faulsee Slodqwi36 U.S. at 254*Mere negligence” is
insufficient to constitute willfulness under section 66@hdfrey 748 F.2d at 1577. On the

other hand, “it is not necessary that there be present an intent to defraud or to depnethe U
States of the taxesid, nor need bad motives or wicked design be proved in order to constitute
willfulness.” Whitg 372 F.2d at 521see alsdMonday v. United Stated421 F.2d 1210, 1216

(7th Cir.),cert. denied400 U.S. 821 (1970) (the individual's bad purpose or evil motive in
failing to collect and pay the taxes “properly play no part in the civil definitioniltdtiiness.”);
Godfrey 748 F.2d at 157 Ghandour 36 Fed. Clat62.

Limning the appropriate standards to be applied herein, the Federal Cischéltdahat
willfulness may be shown in at least two ways: (i) “a deliberate choice aolyntonsciously
and intentionally made to pay other creditors instead of paying the [g]overnonent”
(ii) “reckless disregard of a known or obvious risk that the taxes wigyenremitted to the
government.”Godfrey 748 F.2d at 1577Decisions of the Court of Claims are to similar effect.
See Feist607 F.2d at 961Bolding v. United State$65 F.2d 663, 672 (Ct. Cl. 1977). Under the
first of these prongs, a responsible person who pays net wages to employees kmithwtbdge
that there are insufficient funds with which to pay the employnaeis commits a willful
failure to collect and pay over under section 6632e Emshwille565 F.2d at 104550renson
v. United States521 F.2d 325, 328 {oCir. 1975). Under the second of these prongs, a
responsible person is reckless if he knew or should have known of a risk that the taxest were
being paid, had a reasonable opportunity to discover and remedy the prrulgmt failed to
undertake reasonable efforts to ensure paynteee Whiteside v. United Stat2é ClI. Ct. 564,
573-74 (1992)Hammon v. United Stategl CI. Ct. 14, 27 (1990%ee alsaColosimo v. United
States 630 F.3d 749, 753 {8Cir. 2011);:Wright v. United State809 F.2d 425, 427 {Tir.
1987). Under this latter prong, “if the facts and circumstances of a particular akee,ds a
whole, demonstrate that a responsible individual knew or should have known that there was a
risk that the taxewould not be paid, and failed to take available corrective action, with the result
being that the government is not paid taxes to which it is entitled, that individulaévound to
have willfully failed to pay over withholding taxes under IRC § 66).2(&handour 36 Fed.
Cl. at 63 see also Feis607 F.2d at 961 Willfulnesscan be proved by showing that the
responsible person recklessly disregarded his duty to collect, account for, anepéne dwust
fund taxes or by showing that the responsible person ignored an obvious and known risk that the
trust funds might not be remitted.”).

Plaintiff claims that he did not willfully fail to collect, account for or remit the
withholding taxes owed by DDI because once he found out about that lidi®litgade every
effort to assist the IRS in collecting whatas due.But, this claimproves too much.

For one thingthis claim pivots orthe falsenotionthat plaintiffwas not obliged to

facilitate the collection of the withholding taxes untildupposedly found documents on June 9,
1995, indicating that DDI had defaulted itminstallment agreements with the IR®.fact,the
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record demonstrates that, at least as eamypaisof 1995 — ancperhapswell before that® —
plaintiff knewthat thecollection of thes¢axes vasat risk. By thenplaintiff knew not onlythat
DDI had been experiencing employment tax problems and had entered imstaiment
agreement with the IRS to pay those tekes that Mr. Puckrein was unreliable in ensurimaf t
properand timelytax paymentsvould bemade. At least from thigoint, thenplaintiff should
have monitoredvhether the taxes, in fastiere being paidand takercorrective action if they
were not?* He could no longer operate on the good faith belief that DDI and Mr. Puckrein
would ensure that the back taxes were p&ide Conway v. United Statéd7 F.3d 228, 237 {5
Cir. 2011) (“we have repeatedly rejected the argument that a taxpayer'sagbdakfief that
payments for the taxes had been arranged is a defense to personal liability under.8¥a872")
that is exactly whaplaintiff did, recklessly disregarding, in the coudsimation a known risk
that the taxes wemot beingpaid

At all events, “[e]ven if a ‘responsible person’ is unaware that withholding taexee
gone unpaid ipast quarters, it is settled law that a responsible personbedames aware that
taxes have gone unpaid in past quarters in which he was also a responsible person, is under a

20 On June 15, 1995, plaintiff signed an IRS Form 4180 (Report of Interview with
Individual Relative to Trust Fund Recovery Penalty or Personal Liability foisEXT ax) that
reflected that he first became aware of DDI's tax problems in reviewing therabopés year
end financial statement for 1993. While plaintiff testified at trial that informatioradidsd to
this form after he signed it, there was nothing to corroborate this claim acalulnisel permitted
the document to be admitted into evidence without challenging its authenticity.

Moreover, some of plaintiff's testimony at trial was consistent with the view tHatdwe
about DDI’s tax problems prior to June 9, 1995. Indeed, plaintiff, at one point, admitted that he
met with Revenue Officer Bendery on several occasions prior to June 9, 1995, presunembly bas
on concerns that DDI was not keeping current on either its new tax obligations or g maki
payments on its installment agreensenMoreover, plaintiff also testified that, n June 9, 1995,
plaintiff invited Mr. Bender’s supervisor to the June 12, 1995, board meeting because he was
dissatisfied with his prior dealings with Mr. Bender. Of course, plaintiffccoot have had that
view of Mr. Bender if, as he contends now, he first discovered Mr. Bender’'s namegwihide
through DDI’s papers on June 9, 1995, the same day that he sent the meeting notice to the IRS
Indeed, in deposition testimony that Mr. Jenkins gave in the D.@r®uourt case he filed
against Mr. Puckrein, he admitted that there was “more than one” meetingpavliRS prior to
the meeting of the board of directors on June 12, 1995.

2l Seeg.g.,Keller v. United Statest6 F.3d 851, 854-5@th Cir.1995) (holding that
past tax problems should have alerted responsible person who did not have day to day control
over finances that future taxes might go unpauglloy v. United Stated 7 F.3d 329, 332
(11th Cir. 1994) (holding that taxpayer disregarded obvious risk opagment where he was
aware of prior failure to pay taxes aoithe compang financial difficulties and the same
person wastill responsible for paying the taxed/espe 868 F.2d 1328, 1335 (3d Cir. 1989)
(willfulness based in part on knowledge of subsequent tax problems which should have
suggested possible problems with payment in past tax quakéight, 809 F.2d at 427 (finding
willfulness based in part on knowledge of past tax problems).

-16 -



duty to use all ‘unencumbered funds’ available to the corporaipay those back taxes.”
United States v. Kinl11 F.3d 1351, 1357 (TCir. 1997)(emphasis in originaj)see also
Thosteson v. United State&81 F.3d 1294, 1300-01 (4Tir. 2003);Honey v. United State863
F.2d 1083, 1089 {8Cir. 1992);Mazo v. United State§91 F.2d 1151 {&Cir. 1979). This rule
fully applies to this case. The dwgg describe@xtends not only to funds available to the
corporation at the time the responsible person becomes aware of the arreardge tdainy
unencumbered funds acquired thereaft@arskey v. United State800 F.2d 86, 91 (7Cir.
1979);see also Kim111l F.3d at 1357Failure totake actiorwhen there is knowledge of the tax
liability constitutes willfulnes$?

Plaintiff manifestly failed to satisfljis duty to use unencumbered funds to pay back the
IRS. True enough, there is little doubtathe Fad an earnest desire foDI to paytheback and
current taxest owed the IRS — but only if did not adversely impact his own ability to recoup
moneys owed hirby DDI. It wasin pursuit of the latter goadnd @rtainlynotthe former that
three weeks after thaxitical board meeting with the IRS, plaintiff wrote himself a check for
$16,668.45 -the last of at leaghirteen checks that he signed between April 12, 1995, and the
day he closed out DDI's accouattindustrial Bank’® Every time plaintiff signed one of these
checks he should have wondered, in ligiitDDI’s history of delinquency, the company’s
modest size, and the lack of improvement ilbd@gom line, whether history was repeating itself
and he was signing over to creditors (and himself) money that belonged to the UnéedH&ia
could have confirmedhether this was the caseshe had the right to look at the company’s
books and the business experience to understand them. But, he did not.

Plaintiff claims that the fundse tookwere “encumberedand thus uavailable for
payment to the IRS. Hargues that his factor lien took priority over the overdue withholding tax
obligation, entitling hin to any funds that the corporation received from third parties.aBut,
will be explained, the law does not allow a responsible persawoid liability for unpaid
withholdingtaxesby erforcing asecurity arrangement with his own corporation that favors his
own interests over those of thmited States

As a threshold mattea,very good argument can be made that, et teasssome ofthe
funds in question, plaintiff's factoring lien did not have ptioover the interests of the IR$t
is wellaccepted that section 7501 of the Code impresses the taxes withheld from empithyees
a trust. See Begierd96 U.Sat 60 (the act giving rise to tax liabilitye., the payment of wages,

22 To be sure, courts have held that if an individual becomes a responsible officar after
withholding tax accrues, that person is not willful if all the available funds toheatgx are
encumberedSege.qg, Slodoy 436 U.S. at 259-60senagy v. United State842 F.2d 459, 465
(8th Cir.1991). Along similar lines, the Federal Circuit has held that a responsible perdon nee
not “order the impossible.Godfrey 748 F.2d at 157%&ee also GhandouB6 Fed. Cl. at 62.

But that is far cry from the caseb judicebecause, unlike in these cadds, Jenkins vas a
responsible persoat the time the taxes in question accrued and were not paid over

23 Two of these checks were payroll checks of $974.30 each for his wife, while a third
check, dated April 28, 1995, was to himself for $3,483.77.
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gives rise to a statutory trust in favor of the UniBtdtes) Cabot v. United State88 Fed. Cl.

682, 693 (1997§* Various cases hold that where a corporation commingles the withheld taxes
with its other funds and then uses toenmingledfunds to pay creditors, it should be treated like
a trustee who hasisappropriated trust fundsn the latter instance, courts may make
“reasonable assumptions” to determine if a nexus exists between theviidvkedd andhe
fundsremainingin the commingled accouas of a given point in timeBegier, 496 U.S. at 65
(quoting124 Cong. Rec. 32392, 32417 (statement of Rep. Edwasds)glso In re Megafoods
Stores 163 F.3d 1063, 1068{Cir. 1998) Drabkin v. District of Columbia824 F.2d 1103

(D.C. Cir. 1987). Under one of theseasonable assumptiohspmmonly known as the lowest
intermediate balandest (LBT), money that remains in the commingled account is presumed to
belong to the beneficiayy. These principles have been extended to tax situations by courts
concludingthat where a corporatidails to tun over the withheld taxes fundbe minimum
balancemaintained in a commingled accousimpressed byhetrustcreated by section 7501

24 Congress passed the predecessor of section 7501 as section 607 of the 1934 Revenue
Act (c. 277, 8 607, 48 Stat. 768). In explaining the purpose of the statute, the accompanying
report stated:

Existing law provides with respect to a number of taxes that the amount of the tax
shall be collected or withheld from the person primarily liable by anothsoper

who is required to return and pay to the Government the amount of the taxes so
collected or withheld by him . . . . Undexisting law the liability of the person
collecting and withholding the taxes to pay over the amount is merely a debt, and
he can not be treated as a trustee or proceeded against by distraint. Section [607]
of the bill as reported impresses the amotitdoes withheld or collected with a

trust and makes applicable for the enforcement of the Government's claim the
administrative provisions for assessment and collection of taxes.

S. Rep. No. 558, 73d Cong., 2d Sess. 53 (1934).

> See In re Megafood463 F.3d at 1066;nited States v. Dani¢ln re R&T Roofing
Structures & Commercial Framing, I1n¢887 F.2d 981, 987 {oCir. 1989);Matter of
Wellington Foods, In¢165 B.R. 719, 727-28 (Bankr. S.D. Ga. 199é§ also City of Farrell v.
Sharon Steel Corp41 F.3d 92, 102 (3d Cir. 1994 re Al Copeland Enters., Incl33 B.R.
837, 840 (Bankr. W.D. Tex. 1998ffd, 991 F.2d 233 (BCir. 1993) (applying LIBT to a Texas
statute patterned after section 7501)Inire Kountz Bros 79 F. 2d 98 (2d Cir. 193%)ert.
denied, sub nom. Irving Trust Co. v. Los Ange286 U.S. 640 (1935), the Second Circuit, in
discussing the application of this trust principle to a bankruptcy trustee, observed —

Equity marshals the withdrawal against the fiduciary’s own funds so longaas it ¢
because the result is deemed fairer. There is good reasons for this because the
fiduciary’s creditors have accepted the risk of his solvency whiledsiiishave
accepted only the risk of his honesty.

Id. at 102. For a further discussion of the common law roots of thissed€unningham v.
Brown, 265 U.S. 1, 12-13 (1924%chuyler v. Littlefield232 U.S. 707 (1914)n re Columbia
Gas Systems, In@97 F.2d 1039 (3rd Cir. 1993)rt. denied510 U.S. 1110 (1994).
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and desnot become the property of the corporati@eee.g, City of Farrell, 41 F.3d at 102;

Daniel, 887 F.2d at 9871n re Al Copeland Enters., Incl33 B.R. at 837Under these caseas,

would appeathat plaintiff's factor lien took a backseat to the interests of the IRS afrlesafir
asthe lowest intermediate balance of the commingled fin

But even if plaintiff's factoring liensomehow had priority over ¢htrust ceated under
section 7501, it remains wedlstablished thator purposes of establishing willfulness, funds are
deemed “encumbered” only where “the taxpayer is legally obligated thhv@$ends for a
purpose other than satisfying the preexisting employment tax liabilitgriey 963 F.2d at
109Q see also Conway47 F.3cat237 (‘funds are encumbered when ‘restrictions preclude a
taxpayer from using the funds to pay the trust fund taxes.”) (quB@ngett 988 F.2cat 1458);
Bell v. United States855 F.3d 387, 394 {6Cir. 2004):Kim, 111 F.3d at 1359Here, ofcourse,
the factoring lierwas possessed not bgme third party, such as a bank, but by the responsible
person himself plaintiff. As such, hatfactoringlien, in no practical or legal sense, precluded
plaintiff from using the corporationstherwiseavailable funds to address the outstanding trust
fund taxes. Indeegaintiff's factoring liendid not prevent the company from using funds in its
accounts to “make any expenditures . . . in the ordinary course of busareb#hiat is exactly
what plaintiff didon various occasions in disbursing corporate fuadsilities, other vendors,
and his wifefor her salary’ This same provision did not preclude plaintiff from disbursing

26 Other Supreme Court decisions are not to the contrary. To be surétdd States v.
Randall 401 U.S. 513 (1971), the Supreme Court held that trust fund taxes could be used to pay
the costs and expenses of the administration of a bankrupégyer, however, pointed out that
this rule, which was premised on the Court’s construction of the interaction between the
bankruptcy and tax laws, “did not survive the adoption of the new Bankruptcy CBdgiér,

496 U.S. at 65. Likewise inapsite isSlodov In that case, the Supreme Court held that an
individual was not personally liable for withholding taxes under section 6672, wherauheedss
control of the corporation after the time when the delinquency existed and thedaxfere
dissipated. The Court held that this was true even though the corporation later acapgised f

that could have been applied to the delinquency. 436 U.S. at 252-53. Here, however, plaintiff
was a responsible person at all time during which the tax deling@ecsrued.See Kinnie v.

United States994 F.2d 279. 285 {6Cir. 1993).

2’ See Kim111 F.3dat 1361 (payment of unsecured creditors establishes that funds are
not encumberedPurcell v. United Stated F.3d 932, 939 (9th Cir. 1993) (deciglitihat the
companys funds were not “encumbered” by a security interest when there wakexthility on
the use of the fundshn re Branagan, J;.345 B.R. 144, 171 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 2006) (“If a
corporation can use its funds to pay legitimate corporate obligations, then such fumats are
encumbered.”) Notably, the Fifth Circuit has observed that the existence of secured ti@msac
between a dominant stockholder and the corporation may be relevant in determirtimey Wwiee
stockholder willfully failed to ensure that the corporation’s withholding tavere \paid. See
First Nat. Bank in Palm Beach v. United Sta®81 F.2d 1143, 1149-50"{%ir. 1979) (that a
dominant stockholder cast his advances to the controlled corporation in the forntwfea se
loan transaction may . . . indicate that the corporation was under-capitalized, dreithat
essence made the United States an involuntary and unwilling creditor of theatiorpby
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corporate funds to pay DDItsxes?® Rather, plaintifi- and plaintiff alone -made the choice to

favor himself over the IRS. And he should not be heard to argue, on the khsisabidicethat

the corporations funds were “encumbered” so as to excuse his failure to use those faingfy to s
DDI's employment tax liabilities. See Purdy Co. of Ill. v. United Stat&44 F.2d 1183, 1191

(7™ Cir. 1987)(“The mere fact that some other credjtocluding the taxpayer, might be owed a

debt . . . does not alter the general requirement that such funds be paid over against bgck taxes.”
To permit corporate officers to escape liability under section (B§¥ia agreements thatefer
themselves to the government would defeat the purpose of the statute, as it woulditze the

officer, indeed, who would not be the effective maximizer of his ownisielfest See Kalb v.

United States505 F.2d 506, 510 (2d Cir. 1974).

Discretion is power — a commodity to be prized. And plaintiff fragle power and
ability to change the course e¥ents hereBut, he did not. His claims of obtuseness do not
persuade Hencethe court finds that plaintiff sonfeasangeat a minimumgconstituted“a
reckless disregardf a known or obvious risk that trust funds may not be remitted to the
government.” Oppliger, 637 F.3d at 894 (quotirieller v. United Statest6 F.3d 851, 854"
Cir. 1995)). As such, his conduct was “willful” within the meaning of section 6672(a).

11, CONCLUSION

The court will not gild the lily. It understands that Mr. Jenkins is frustrated. Although
the court cannot stand in his shoéegre is little doubt that reufferedgrievous wrong at the
hands of others involved with the operations DBut, what happened to plaintiff, bad asvias
neither gave him license emgage in selhelp insofar as thimterests of the United Stateene
concernednor relievechim of theoverarchingesponsibilityhe hado ensure that DDI did not

placing on the government alone the risk that funds would be available for the payment of
withholding taxey).

8 See Colosimo v. United Stat&97 F. Supp. 2d 926, 944 (S.D. lowa 2058d, 630
F.3d 749 (8 Cir. 2011) (funds not encumbered where bank did not restrict company from using
funds to pay trust fund taxedi; re Robertson354 B.R. 445, 452-53 (Bankr. W.D. Tex. 2006)
(funds not encumbered where no evidence “that the bank would not let them [R$he
Indeed, it should not be overlooked that DDI likely would not have generated the revenues fr
which plaintiff reimbursed himself had it not previously diverted funds owed to the Unéess S
to the payment of its employees and creditors. Erdgard, it is often said that “the
government cannot be made an unwilling partner in a floundering busir@skiris v. United
States 848 F.2d 740, 741-42{&Cir. 1988).

29 In arguing that his conduct was not “willful,” plaintiff also assertt the IRS did not
vigorously pursue assets that he identified. The IRS, however, is not requireda atte
collection against the corporation before assessing a penalty against a béspanson such as
Mr. Jenkins. SeeBradley v. United State936 F.2d 707, 710 (2d Cir. 1990alderone v.
United States799 F.2d 254, 257 {6Cir. 1986);Datlof v. United States870 F.2d 655, 656 (3d
Cir. 1966);United States v. Sagél2 F.Supp.2d 406, 414 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).
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default on its tax obligationsEven in this context, “[tfjwo wrongs do not make a right;” they
“simply make two wrongs."Minnick v. California Dept. of Correctiong52 U.S. 105, 128 n.3
(1981) (Stewart, Hissenting).

Mr. Jenkins was responsible for paying DDI withheld taxes over, he willfailld to do
so and, therefore, is liable for the 100 percent penalty assessed under section 66¥2(a) of t
Codeg.)O As such, the Clerk is directed to enter judgmisnissing plaintiff’'s complaint. No
costs:

IT1SSO ORDERED.
g Francis M. Allegra

Francis M. Allegra
Judge

30 Unfortunately, this is not the first time this court has had to deal with the loss of an
IRS administrative file. Apart from the legal complexities introduced by sucdsasé®z e.g,
Cook 46 Fed. Cl. at 120, there are the practical, factual problems posed by the absence of any
record ofcommunications between the IRS and a given taxpagarabsence that, in this case,
required the court to render factual findings that might otherwise have proveressergc In
the future, this court may well be required to determine whether the loss of scbamétitutes
an act of spoliationSee e.g, United Medical Supply Co. v. United Statég Fed. Cl. 257
(2007).
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